THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUN 07 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-GS-36-00500  
Appellate Case No. 2014-002376

The State, ..... Respondent,  
v.  
Mario Valerio-Gonzalez Hernandez, ..... Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Michael J. Anzelmo  
Graham R. Billings  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP  
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor  
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
803.799.2000

Robert M. Dudek  
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 734-1343

### Statement of Issues on Appeal

- I. Did the trial court err in admitting expert testimony that no conclusion could be reached regarding whether Mr. Hernandez could be included or excluded as a contributor to the DNA analysis because the evidence was irrelevant and invited the jury to speculate about its meaning?
- II. Did the trial court err in admitting the investigator's testimony regarding what the interpreter said the defendant told him in Spanish because the testimony was hearsay not subject to any exception?
- III. Did the trial court err in admitting expert testimony corroborating the minor's details of the alleged assault in a forensic interview because it improperly bolstered the minor's testimony?

### Statement of the Case

This appeal arises out of a conviction and sentence of Appellant Mario Valerio-Gonzalez Hernandez of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. Mr. Hernandez was found guilty by a jury after a trial in the Newberry County Court of General Sessions from October 28, 2014 to October 30, 2014. The State argued at trial that Mr. Hernandez sexually assaulted the minor child of his girlfriend, Tomasa Aguirre-Cruz, both of whom lived at the same residence as Mr. Hernandez. The State theorized that the alleged criminal sexual conduct had occurred from approximately 2010, when the minor was eight years old, until June 29, 2013, when the minor was twelve. The State brought two charges against Mr. Hernandez: criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree.

At trial, Ms. Aguirre-Cruz testified that, on the evening of June 29, 2013, she found Mr. Hernandez and the minor, who was not wearing underwear, lying on a blanket on the floor of the minor's bedroom. (Tr. 38-44; R. 167-173.) Ms. Aguirre-Cruz testified that the minor told her that Mr. Hernandez had touched and "had relations" with the minor. (Tr. 40; R. 169.) Ms. Aguirre-Cruz testified that the minor left to call the police at a neighbor's house and Ms. Aguirre-Cruz called Liz Rivera, a Spanish-speaking neighbor, to assist at the scene. (Tr. 41, 46-47; R. 170, 175-176.)

Andrew Rowe, a police officer with the Newberry Police Department, testified that he was dispatched and met Ms. Rivera, Ms. Aguirre-Cruz, and the minor at the house. (Tr. 82-84; R. 211-213.) Officer Rowe testified that he brought Mr. Hernandez out of the home for questioning. (Tr. 84-86; R. 213-215.) Officer Rowe testified that he read Miranda rights in English, and Ms. Rivera orally translated the Miranda rights into Spanish to Mr. Hernandez. (Tr.

87-89; R. 216-218.) Officer Rowe then questioned Mr. Hernandez regarding what occurred. (Tr. 92-94; R. 221-223.) Officer Rowe called Investigator Kevin Goodman to the home, and Investigator Goodman testified that he overheard Sgt. Rowe questioning Mr. Hernandez through Ms. Rivera. (Tr. 168; R. 297.) After the conclusion of the interview, Mr. Hernandez was taken to prison. (Tr. 168; R. 297.)

Inv. Goodman testified that, on July 1, 2013, Mr. Hernandez was brought to the police department for an interview. (Tr. 174; R. 303.) He testified that Mr. Hernandez was Mirandized in both English and Spanish, after which Mr. Hernandez signed a Spanish language waiver form. (Tr. 176-81; R. 305-310.) During the interview, Inv. Goodman asked questions to Corporal Boris Alvarado in English, who interpreted the questions and asked them to Mr. Hernandez in Spanish. (Tr. 174; R. 303.) Mr. Hernandez then responded in Spanish to Cpl. Alvarado, who interpreted the response back to Inv. Goodman in English. (Tr. 174; R. 303.) After questioning Mr. Hernandez, Inv. Goodman offered him an opportunity to give a written statement, and Mr. Hernandez wrote a statement in Spanish. (Tr. 181-82; R. 310-311.) Inv. Goodman also interviewed Ms. Aguirre-Cruz and the minor, and the minor also prepared a voluntary statement in English. (Tr. 171-74; R. 300-303.)

On June 29, 2013, after the alleged criminal sexual conduct, the minor was taken to the hospital for a sexual assault examination by Donna Debrew, a sexual assault nurse examiner at Palmetto Health. (Tr. 265; R. 394.) Ms. Debrew testified that she interviewed the minor and performed a sexual assault examination consistent with the answers provided by the minor within six hours after the alleged assault. (Tr. 267-71; R. 396-400.)

Jennifer Bartman, a DNA analyst employed by the State Law Enforcement Division, testified that she performed a DNA analysis on four pieces of evidence recovered from the scene:

buccal, vaginal, and rectal swabs from the minor obtained during the sexual assault examination; a buccal swab from Mr. Hernandez; a cutting from the chest area of the minor's nightgown; and a cutting from the minor's underwear. (Tr. 299-300; R. 428-429.) Ms. Bartman generated DNA profiles from each of the pieces of evidence, then performed short tandem repeat ("STR") and Y-chromosome short tandem repeat ("YSTR") analyses on the profiles. (Tr. 302; R. 431.) The STR analyses identified fifteen loci for comparison, and Ms. Bartman compared the number of repeating sections of DNA in the profile between Mr. Hernandez and the minor at the fifteen loci against established statistical standards to reach conclusions on the data. (Tr. 302; R. 431.) Ms. Bartman testified that Mr. Hernandez could be excluded as a contributor to the DNA mixture samples generated from the vaginal and rectal swabs and the cutting from the minor's underwear. (Tr. 322-23, 327; R. 451-451, 456.) She testified that no conclusion could be made regarding the inclusion or exclusion of Mr. Hernandez as a contributor to the DNA mixture generated from the cutting of the minor's nightgown. (Tr. 311; R. 440.)

Mr. Hernandez was found not guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. (Tr. 393; R. 522.) A sentence of sixteen years of incarceration was imposed. (Tr. 399; R. 528.) Mr. Hernandez timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal on November 7, 2014.

## Argument

- I. The trial court erred in admitting expert testimony that no conclusion could be reached regarding whether Mr. Hernandez could be included or excluded as a contributor to the DNA analysis because the evidence was irrelevant and invited the jury to speculate about its meaning.**

The trial court erred in admitting the expert testimony of Jennifer Bartman, the State's expert witness in the field of DNA analysis, that no conclusion could be reached regarding the inclusion or exclusion of Mr. Hernandez as a contributor to the mixture of DNA found on the cutting from the front of the minor's nightgown. Her testimony had no probative value whatsoever and could not have assisted the jury determine any fact in issue, so it should have been excluded as irrelevant pursuant to Rules 402 and 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. To the extent that the statistically insignificant DNA evidence could have had any probative value, that value was substantially outweighed by the risk of prejudice in this case because Ms. Bartman failed to explain the meaning or provide the statistical relevance of a non-exclusion result to the jury. As a result, the admission of her testimony invited the jury to serve as their own amateur experts using their preconceived, and likely incorrect, ideas of the meaning of DNA evidence that "could not exclude" Mr. Hernandez. The admission of Ms. Bartman's testimony was prejudicial, and a new trial is required to correct the error.

- A. The DNA evidence was irrelevant and should not have been admitted under Rules 402 and 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.**

Under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, "[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." Rule 702, SCRE. The evidence to which the expert will testify must be relevant, reliable, and helpful to the jury. *State*

*v. Tennant*, 383 S.C. 245, 255; 678 S.E.2d 812, 817 (Ct. App. 2009). This analysis by the trial court is part of its gatekeeping function “in ensuring the proposed expert testimony meets a reliability threshold for the jury’s ultimate consideration.” *State v. Cain*, 413 S.C. 508, 520, 776 S.E.2d 374, 380 (Ct. App. 2015), *reh’g denied* (Sept. 2, 2015) (quotation omitted). “Generally, the admission of expert testimony is a matter within the sound discretion of the circuit court.” *Id.*, 413 S.C. at 520, 776 S.E.2d at 380 (quotation omitted). This Court will not reverse a trial court’s decision to admit improper expert testimony unless the decision constituted a prejudicial abuse of discretion. *Id.* “An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court’s ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” *Id.* (quotation omitted).

Generally, South Carolina law recognizes that DNA evidence offered by an expert is reliable, although the admissibility of the DNA evidence may still be challenged on relevance or prejudice grounds. *State v. Ford*, 301 S.C. 485, 490, 392 S.E.2d 781, 784 (1990). “Relevant evidence is any evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. Additionally, relevant evidence may be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE.

The State offered the expert testimony of Ms. Bartman, a SLED forensic scientist, in the field of DNA analysis. (Tr. 297-98; R. 426-427.) In performing her DNA analysis, Ms. Bartman analyzed four pieces of evidence: a buccal swab from Mr. Hernandez; the minor’s buccal, vaginal, and rectal swabs; a cutting from the minor’s underwear; and a cutting from the chest

area of the minor's nightgown. (Tr. 300-01; R. 429-430.) Ms. Bartman performed STR and Y-STR analyses<sup>1</sup> on the DNA mixtures; and the results from all of the samples conclusively excluded Mr. Hernandez except for the nightgown chest cutting. (Tr. 322-23, 327; R. 451-452, 456.)

Ms. Bartman testified that the DNA profile developed from the nightgown chest cutting was a mixture of at least two individuals. (Tr. 310-11; R. 439-440.) Ms. Bartman testified that the minor could conclusively be included and not excluded as a contributor to the mixture. (Tr. 310; R. 439.) In the context of the minor's contribution to the DNA profile, Ms. Bartman testified that "[t]he probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual who could have contributed to this mixture is approximately 1 in 1,600." (Tr. 311; R. 440.) However, Ms. Bartman testified that, for both the DNA profile and the partial YSTR profile developed from the nightgown chest cutting, Mr. Hernandez could neither be included nor excluded as a contributor to the mixture. (Tr. 311; R. 440.) She did not explain the statistical significance of that result.

The trial court erred in allowing Ms. Bartman to testify about the non-exclusion result on the nightgown chest cutting sample because it had no probative value whatsoever. The DNA results were not inconclusive because of a tainted sample or insufficient sample size; to the contrary, Ms. Bartman's DNA analysis was complete and reached a result—that no conclusions or inferences could be made. Thus, unlike a match, where the contributor can be included and not excluded, the non-exclusion result did not provide any information about Mr. Hernandez's contribution, and the DNA analysis inherently had no value. "Truly inconclusive results, in failing to either include or exclude the defendant, are wholly neutral," and they "are not relevant

---

<sup>1</sup> Numerous secondary sources, and some cases, discuss the methodologies and evidentiary significance of STR and Y-STR testing. See, e.g., Hon. Ming W. Chin, et al. *Forensic DNA Evidence: Science and the Law* §§ 2:3, 7:1 (2015); *Harvey v. Horan*, 285 F.3d 298, 305 (4th Cir. 2002).

[] because they do not have a tendency to prove any particular fact that would be material to an issue in the case.” *State v. Johnson*, 862 N.W.2d 757, 775-76 (Neb. 2015). Put simply, Ms. Bartman’s testimony is evidence of nothing, and it was totally irrelevant.

The lack of relevance of the DNA analysis is compounded by the lack of evidence in the record about *why* Ms. Bartman could not reach a conclusion. Ms. Bartman described how the presence of the same number in the box for the individual and the evidence indicated a match for that particular locus. (Tr. 313; R. 442.) When prompted, however, Ms. Bartman never explained the *meaning* of the different potential results—inclusive, exclusive, non-exclusive, or incomplete. Instead, she only repeated her explanation of the methodology:

Q. I guess the question is, it might just be semantics. Why can’t you include him then. You can’t exclude but you can’t include him?

A. Right. Like I mentioned, we look at the profile as a whole. We don’t look at each location individually. Just because, several people can have a 14 repeat and a 15 repeat. That is not necessarily indicative of a person. And we look at these 15 different locations because these are the locations that have been shown to be the most unique between individuals. So, when we look at all of those different locations combined it gives us the best look at whether a person can be there or can be excluded.

(Tr. 314; R. 443.) When again prompted by the State to explain the meaning of the results rather than the methodology, Ms. Bartman only offered circular responses:

Q. And then you say that about Hernandez as well, he cannot be excluded?

A. No conclusive statement can be made regarding the inclusion or exclusion.

Q. What does that mean?

A. Like I said earlier, we can either include someone, we can exclude someone or there can just not be enough information to make a determination whether he can be included or excluded from a profile.

(Tr. 316; R. 445.)

Q. Now, we are all looking at it and we see a lot of these numbers that are matching one another. Why can't you make a conclusion, just not reaching your threshold of confidence, I guess.

A. Because it is a mixture. We typically look at mixtures more cautiously, it is as cut and dry as it is them or it is not them. So, in this case there are some numbers that are around the parenthesis, so there are some lower level DNA there which you can see. This one and some of the other ones. So there is just enough, there is not to conclusively say that he cannot be excluded from that profile.

(Tr. 317; R. 446.) The chart of the results of the testing, but not the report finding that no conclusion could be made from the testing, was shown to the jury. (Tr. 309-10, Ex. 18; R. 438-439, 534.)

While the jury heard that it would have been a striking coincidence—1 in 1,600—for someone other than the minor to have caused the minor's DNA to appear in the profile, the jury was given no context about the meaning of the non-exclusion result for Mr. Hernandez. The statistical context of DNA analysis is crucial to determining what inferences a jury may reasonably take from the results, regardless of what the result was. For example, Mr. Hernandez may have been non-excludable because the results only indicated a broad class of potential contributors. Alternatively, the results may have suggested the contributor possessed some genomic characteristic that would only appear in the DNA of a few people worldwide—but not uniquely identifying Mr. Hernandez. If, *arguendo*, the results were below the State's required confidence interval, the jury had no way to know if Mr. Hernandez was nearly excludable (say, perhaps, only a 1-in-100 chance that the contribution came from him), nearly includable (only a 1-in-100 chance the contribution was *not* from him), or somewhere in between. However missing from the record is the State's proof of any such explanation. Ms. Bartman's opinion thus only provided half of the necessary information to the jury; she did not provide any analysis to explain the *meaning* of that conclusion or even inform the jury that no inferences could be

made from it. Without an explanation, the information that he could not be included or excluded as a contributor simply has no statistical application and no probative value.

In *Commonwealth of Massachusetts v. Mattei*, the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts held that expert testimony regarding non-exclusion results should not be admitted without an accompanying statistical explanation of its meaning. 920 N.E.2d 845, 849 (Mass. 2010). The court noted that the same reasoning why courts require statistical relevance for “match” DNA test results applies equally to non-exclusion results; otherwise, the jury would have no way to evaluate the meaning of the result to assign any personal significance to it. *Id.*, 920 N.E.2d at 856. Other courts have agreed that non-exclusion results are not relevant unless accompanied by an explanation, whether statistical or otherwise, regarding the meaning of the non-exclusion. *See, e.g., Johnson*, 862 N.W.2d at 775; *Duncan v. Com.*, 322 S.W.3d 81, 93 (Ky. 2010); *Deloney v. State*, 938 N.E.2d 724, 730 (Ind. Ct. App. 2010); *State v. Tester*, 968 A.2d 895, 906 (Vt. 2009); *People v. Coy*, 620 N.W.2d 888, 897 (Mich. App. 2000); *State v. Williams*, 574 N.W.2d 293, 298 (Iowa 1998). Without such an explanation, statistical or otherwise, the results are meaningless and of no probative value. Their admission in this case was error.

**B. The error in admitting the irrelevant DNA evidence was prejudicial because it invited the jury to engage in amateur speculation about its meaning.**

The error in admitting the non-exclusion DNA testimony was not harmless because it invited the jury to become amateur experts and speculate about the meaning of the data for themselves. To the extent that non-exclusion results can have any probative value without an explanation of their meaning, that value was substantially outweighed in this case by the prejudice to Mr. Hernandez of the jury being misled. As a result, this Court should remand the case for a new trial.

“To show prejudice, there must be a reasonable probability that the jury’s verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012) (quotation omitted). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” *State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quotation omitted). Error is only considered harmless if it could not reasonably have affected the outcome of the trial. *State v. Williams*, 380 S.C. 336, 344, 669 S.E.2d 640, 644 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *State v. Bryant*, 369 S.C. 511, 518; 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006)). In such cases, the defendant’s guilt must be “conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached.” *State v. Kirton*, 381 S.C. 7, 25, 671 S.E.2d 107, 115-16 (Ct. App. 2008) (quotation omitted). “The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record, and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” *Id.*, 381 S.C. at 25, 671 S.E.2d at 115.

Ms. Bartman’s testimony that Mr. Hernandez could not be included nor excluded as a contributor to the DNA mixture prejudiced Mr. Hernandez because the potential existed for the jury to impermissibly infer that it had some significance. Stating that Mr. Hernandez could not be excluded suggests a link that could be more firmly established if more sampling was possible; as the Supreme Court of Nebraska noted, a jury could reasonably conclude that DNA results showing that the defendant could neither be included nor excluded makes that defendant a possible source of the DNA. *State v. Johnson*, 862 N.W.2d 757, 773 (Neb. 2015). However, that is a factually incorrect inference from a non-exclusion result. The only correct determination from a non-exclusion result is that it is “evidence of *nothing*.” *Clark v. State*, 96 A.3d 901, 908 (Md. 2014) (emphasis added). A non-exclusion result implies no greater link

between Mr. Hernandez and the nightgown than *anyone* else. *See Com. v. Nesbitt*, 892 N.E.2d 299, 313 (Mass. 2008) (finding that testimony regarding inconclusive DNA evidence was prejudicial because it had no causal relevance but affirming because defendant did not object to the evidence). It has no statistical meaning or explanatory relevance *whatsoever*. *Johnson*, 862 N.W.2d at 773-74.

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