**ORIGINAL**

RECEIVED

JUN 03 2016

SC Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

JUN 03 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM NEWBERRY COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002376

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MARIO V. GONZALEZ HERNANDEZ,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516  
Greenwood, SC 29648  
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

In weighing the aforementioned four factors, the situation at hand is analogous to that in United States v. Romo-Chavez, 681 F.3d 955 (9th Cir. 2012). In Romo-Chavez, ICE Special Agent Andrew Simboli questioned Romo-Chavez. Id. at 958. Simboli required a translator to facilitate conversation with Romo-Chavez, so Customs and Border Protection Officer David Hernandez acted as a translator to facilitate conversation between Romo-Chavez and Simboli. Id. Simboli testified he recognized proper nouns such as “Phoenix” and “Dillard’s,” but otherwise depended on Officer Hernandez’s translation. Id. In weighing the factors, the Court found the first factor

weighed slightly in favor of Romo-Chavez. Id. at 959. The Court stated, however, “though never dispositive, this factor would have greater weight if Officer Hernandez had ‘acted as both a translator and a federal law enforcement officer,’ by ‘ask[ing] the types of questions he ‘normally would ask’ in his capacity’ as a government agent.” Id. at 359-60. The Court noted Officer Hernandez did not initiate any of the questions with Romo-Chavez. Id. at 360. The Court found the second factor weighed in favor of the government, as the district court found Officer Hernandez had no motive to distort the translation. Id. The Court declined to adopt a presumption that a public servant is inherently biased. Id. The Court also found the third factor weighs in favor of the government. Id. The Court emphasized Officer Hernandez grew up in El Paso speaking Spanish, studied it in school, spoke it at home with his wife, and conducted interviews in Spanish on a regular basis. Id. The Court found the fourth factor was not relevant in the case, as Officer Hernandez took no further action after the translation. Id. After weighing the factors together, the Court concluded the district court did not err in concluding Officer Hernandez served merely as a language conduit for Romo-Chavez. Id. at 961.

Here, as in Romo-Chavez, the four factors establish the narrow exception to the conduit rule does not apply. Regarding the first factor, as in Romo-Chavez, the fact that the State supplied the interpreter should not weigh too heavily against the State. Corporal Alvarado was acting only as an interpreter and not acting as an investigator, as he asked no questions of his own and simply translated Investigator Goodman’s statements to Appellant and vice-versa. As to the second factor, there is absolutely no evidence in the record that Alvarado had any intent to mislead or distort. As noted in Romo-Chavez, there is no presumption that a law enforcement officer is inherently biased. Furthermore,

the statement itself belies the contention that Alvarado intended to exaggerate Appellant's culpability, as logic dictates he would have created a much more damaging admission than the one relayed. As to the third factor, Alvarado was adequately qualified to translate in Spanish for Appellant and Investigator Goodman. Alvarado's native language is Spanish, as he was born in Bolivia. Due to his Spanish fluency, Alvarado often assists the department in cases involving Spanish-speaking individuals. Furthermore, Alvarado testified he clearly understood the Guatemalan dialect spoken by Appellant. As to the fourth factor, Appellant's subsequent written statement is fairly consistent with his oral statements. While the written statement does not include the words "private parts" or "inappropriate touching," the statement discussed Victim's confidence, Victim touching Appellant's buttocks, tickling him, and biting his cheek, Victim throwing herself on top of him, and how he played with Victim. This statement is consistent with Appellant's oral statements which contained references to Victim's confidence and admissions that inappropriate touching occurred. The weighing of the four factors does not reveal a situation where the particular facts of a case cast significant doubt upon the accuracy of a translated confession. Goodman's statements were thus admissible, as Alvarado was acting merely as a language conduit.

Furthermore, any alleged error in this case is harmless, as Investigator Goodman's testimony was merely cumulative to the testimony of Corporal Alvarado. When other properly admitted testimony reveals essentially the same information, the jury's exposure to improper evidence is harmless. State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 554-555 (2001). Alvarado's testimony concerning Appellant's oral statements was indisputably admissible under Rule 801(d)(2), SCRE, as an admission by party-opponent.

Appellant argues Alvarado's testimony provided slightly less detail than Goodman's, however the substance of the two statements is essentially identical. In both Goodman's and Alvarado's accounts of Appellant's statement, Appellant admits inappropriate touching of Victim's private parts, Appellant stated the touching began in December of 2012, Appellant asserts he and Victim's clothes stayed on during the touching, and there was never any penetration. The substance of Alvarado's and Goodman's statements, are thus nearly identical. Therefore, Goodman's testimony was merely cumulative to the admissible testimony of Alvarado.

As discussed in Respondent's Issue 1, any alleged error is also harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

### III.

**Appellant's argument concerning improper bolstering is not preserved for appellate review. Even if Appellant's argument was preserved, the vast majority of Debrew's testimony elicited by the State was admissible as the statements at issue were made for purposes of medical diagnosis; Debrew's single comment that may be construed as inappropriate was not intentionally elicited by the Solicitor and was rendered harmless by later statements made by Debrew in response to questioning by Defense Counsel. Also, as to Debrew's testimony that was elicited by Defense Counsel, Appellant cannot complain on appeal about an error that the conduct of his own counsel caused. Furthermore, any alleged error in this case is harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.**

#### **Relevant Facts**

During Debrew's testimony, she discussed her initial involvement in the case, stating, "So I received a call at home. Spoke with the nurse that was taking care of her at the time and they called me to the hospital and said law enforcement is there and they're requesting a forensic exam." ROA. p. 394. Debrew testified her understanding of the case was:

The brief information that I was given was that she was assaulted by or was reporting that she was assaulted by someone in the home which was a male that was much older than her. It was a 12-year-old victim at that time and when I got to the hospital I spoke with the physician. He had done his initial exam and had cleared her, because the physician has to see the patient before I see them, and he had cleared her for me to do my exam.

ROA. p. 394. Debrew testified Victim "explained to me that she was assaulted by the landlord and I think she called him the pastor." Debrew was asked about the nature of the assault. ROA. p. 396. Debrew responded, "He penetrated her - - with the questions that we ask, we get very specific what is touching or where something is put. And she did say that, when I questioned her on, did he put his penis in your vagina, she answered yes."

During cross-examination, Defense Counsel asked Debrew to refer to her report from the evening of June 30, 2013. ROA. p. 403. Defense Counsel asked “On the third page, ma’am, she gave as part of your interview a statement as to what happened or what she says happened?” ROA. p. 403. Debrew answered:

This is what I typed when she was talking to me. Like in the night, it was 11:00 or 12:00 and he, (the pastor), that should be, came in the living room and then he came in my room. He had a bad attitude. He takes down my underpants and he abused me. I was like, mommy, and I ran to the bathroom. My mom came and he acted like nothing happened. My mom went, why are my daughter’s underwear on the floor? My mom asked me and I was trembling and I was really scared. The pastor said, nothing was going on and you’re lying on me. He said that twice. My mom got the phone. She was going to call 911, and he was like begging and crying for her to stop or for her not to call. My brother was there watching. I went to the neighbor and she called the police and they came and brought us here.

ROA. p. 404.

### **Discussion**

Appellant contends Debrew’s testimony constituted improper bolstering of Victim’s testimony. This argument is without merit, as the vast majority of Debrew’s testimony elicited by the State did not constitute improper bolstering and was admissible for purposes of medical diagnosis under Rule 803(4), SCRE. Debrew’s single comment that may be construed as inappropriate was not intentionally elicited by the Solicitor and was rendered harmless by later statements made by Debrew in response to questioning by Defense Counsel. As to the testimony elicited by Defense Counsel, Appellant cannot complain on appeal about an error the conduct of his own counsel caused. Furthermore, any alleged error in this case is harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt.

Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review, as Defense Counsel did not object to Debrew's testimony at issue. If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). The appellate court will not consider any issues or arguments that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial judge, and an appellant is limited on appeal solely to the grounds raised during trial. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). Since Defense Counsel failed to object to Debrew's testimony, Appellant cannot raise this issue on appeal for the first time.

In any event, the vast majority of Debrew's testimony was admissible under Rule 803(4), SCRE, because the statements at issue were made for purposes of medical diagnosis. As one of the recognized exceptions to the hearsay rule, the medical diagnosis or treatment exception allows for the admission of out-of-court statements of a declarant "made for the purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment" despite the general prohibition against hearsay evidence. Rule 803(4), SCRE. In order for a statement to be admissible pursuant to the medical diagnosis or treatment exception, two conditions must be met: (1) the declarant's motive in making the statement must be consistent with the purpose of promoting diagnosis or treatment; and (2) the content of the statement must be such as is reasonably relied upon by a medical provider in making a diagnosis or providing treatment. Willingham v. Crooke, 412 F.3d 553, 562 (4th Cir. 2005). Significantly, the medical diagnosis or treatment "exception to

the hearsay rule is premised on the notion that a declarant seeking treatment ‘has a selfish motive to be truthful’ because ‘the effectiveness of medical treatment depends upon the accuracy of the information provided.’ ” Id.; see White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346, 356 (1992) (“[A] statement made in the course of procuring medical services, where the declarant knows that a false statement may cause misdiagnosis or mistreatment, carries special guarantees of credibility that a trier of fact may not think replicated by courtroom testimony.”).

Debrew’s testimony did not constitute improper bolstering because she was recounting injury-specific information she was given in order to treat Victim. Debrew’s statement, “she was assaulted by or was reporting that she was assaulted by someone in the home which was a male that was much older than her. It was a 12-year-old victim at that time and when I got to the hospital I spoke with the physician,” was made for the purpose of medical diagnosis. The fact that Victim was assaulted in the home was relevant to potential medical issues arising from incest. The fact that the assailant was an older male was also pertinent as to what kind of injuries Victim may have suffered and how severe her injuries may be. Debrew’s statement “he penetrated her - - with the questions that we ask, we get very specific what is touching or where something is put. And she did say that, when I questioned her on, did he put his penis in your vagina, she answered yes,” was similarly a statement Victim made for purposes of medical diagnosis. The nature of the assault is overwhelmingly relevant to Victim’s medical treatment and did not amount to improper bolstering.

The only portion of Debrew’s testimony that could be considered unduly corroborative of Victim’s testimony was where she testified, “she explained to me that

she was assaulted by the landlord and I think she called him the pastor.” ROA. p. 396. Debrew gave that answer after being asked by the Solicitor, “What was your understanding of the type of assault?” ROA. p. 396. The Solicitor’s question regarding the type of assault does not seem to have been intended to elicit the identity of the perpetrator from Debrew, and Appellant neither objected to or moved to strike the response. Further, Debrew’s statements where she noted Victim disclosed she was assaulted by her landlord were later rendered harmless to the testimony elicited by Defense Counsel. Debrew’s report from the interview, which she read at trial at the behest of Defense Counsel, contained the same identification of “the pastor” as the man who assaulted her, as well as many more specific details about the assault. Additionally, this testimony elicited on cross does not appear to be responsive to or necessitated by the allegedly objectionable comment on direct.

Appellant’s contention that the testimony elicited by Defense Counsel constituted improper bolstering is wholly without merit, as Appellant cannot complain about an error directly caused by his own conduct. See State v. Logan, 279 S.C. 345, 348, 306 S.E.2d 622, 624 (1983) (“Appellant can neither take advantage of an error he contributed to at trial nor preserve a vice and, upon learning of the outcome of trial, raise it on appeal.”); State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced.”). Defense Counsel specifically asked Debrew if she had her report from her examination of Victim, and then asked her to tell the jury what the report indicated Victim said. Appellant cannot assert these statements are improper bolstering when he specifically had them admitted at trial.

As discussed in Respondent's Issues I and II, any alleged error in this case is harmless due to overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Appellant contends under South Carolina law, testimony amounting to improper bolstering cannot be considered to be harmless. In support of this argument, Appellant cites State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011). However, in Jennings, the South Carolina Supreme Court repudiated the per se rule, and reaffirmed that admission of testimony, even cumulative testimony, can be harmless. Jennings, 394 S.C. at 478-79, 716 S.E.2d at 93-94 (2011) (Kittredge & Hearn, JJ., concurring) (Toal, C.J., dissenting) (rejecting a per se rule of prejudice when corroboration testimony is cumulative to the victim's testimony); State v. Young, 378 S.C. 101, 107, 661 S.E.2d 387, 390 (2008) (requiring a showing of prejudice for an appellate court to reverse based on the erroneous admission of evidence). This Court therefore should find any alleged error harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.